NO. 45588-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JENNIFER MOTHERSHEAD,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

---

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

---

Marla L. Zink  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, Washington 98101  
(206) 587-2711

**

## A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At this trial, based exclusively on alleged assault through administration of eye medication, the eye medication itself should have been suppressed because it was seized from Jennifer Mothershead's personal, zipped cooler by a government actor without a warrant. The denial of the motion to suppress allowed in evidence that not only advantaged the State, but allowed it to move forward. On the other hand, on numerous occasions, the trial court excluded evidence and argument that would have rebutted the State's case. The most significant excluded evidence related to another suspect's motive and opportunity to assault the child. The trial court further burdened Ms. Mothershead's ability to present her defense by denying an inferior degree offense instruction that was supported by the evidence. Standing alone, or in combination with a burden of proof diluted through instruction and argument, these errors denied Ms. Mothershead a fair trial.

## B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Mothershead's motion to suppress the cooler, and the medications inside, searched and seized by staff members of Harborview Medical Center, a public hospital.

2. To the extent an assignment of error is necessary, the trial court erred in entering the "reasons for admissibility of the evidence" as it



pertains to the Criminal Rule (CrR) 3.6 motion, including that the Harborview Medical Center staff members were not governmental actors, that a warrant was not required for the medications because they were prescribed to K.M., and that Ms. Mothershead voluntarily abandoned the medications. CP 237.<sup>1</sup>

3. The trial court violated Ms. Mothershead's constitutional right to present a defense and failed to comply with the Rules of Evidence when it barred her from presenting evidence relating to another suspect's culpability for the charged offense.

4. The trial court violated Ms. Mothershead's right to present a defense in ruling Ms. Mothershead could not present an instruction on the inferior degree offense of assault of a child in the third degree.

5. Prosecutorial misconduct denied Ms. Mothershead a fair trial.

6. The trial court abused its discretion and violated ER 404(a)(1) and ER 405 by precluding Ms. Mothershead from admitting testimony about a relevant character trait.

7. The trial court abused its discretion by excluding relevant testimony after the State had opened the door on the topic.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Findings and Conclusions on Admissibility of Evidence CrR 3.6 are attached as Appendix A.

8. The court's instruction number 2 misstated the definition of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and diluted the State's burden of proof. CP 170.

9. Cumulative trial errors denied Ms. Mothershead's right to a fair trial.

10. The evidence was insufficient to support the deliberate cruelty and particular vulnerability aggravators because there was no evidence that enabled the jury to determine exceptionalness in this case.

11. The deliberate cruelty and particular vulnerability aggravators are unconstitutionally vague.

12. Imposition of the deliberate cruelty and particular vulnerability aggravators violates the prohibition against double jeopardy where the underlying offense is assault of a child in the first degree.

13. The trial court erred in entering finding II for the exceptional sentence. CP 231.<sup>2</sup>

14. Finding II for the exceptional sentence is not supported by the evidence. CP 231.

15. The trial court erred in entering finding IV for the exceptional sentence. CP 232.

---

<sup>2</sup> A copy of the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for Exceptional Sentence are attached as Appendix B.

16. Finding IV for the exceptional sentence is not supported by the evidence. CP 232.

17. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law I for the exceptional sentence. CP 232-33.

18. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law II for the exceptional sentence. CP 233.

19. The 480-month sentence is clearly excessive.

20. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority in barring Ms. Mothershead from having contact with all minors for life because the order is not crime-related.

21. Even if crime-related, the trial court abused its discretion in barring Ms. Mothershead from having contact with all minors for life.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Article I, section 7 protects Ms. Mothershead's personal affairs from warrantless government invasion and the Fourth Amendment precludes warrantless intrusion into property in which she had a reasonable expectation of privacy. The staff at the publicly run Harborview Medical Center are governmental actors. Were these constitutional protections breached when Harborview staff searched a cooler Ms. Mothershead left at her child's bedside in her child's hospital

room after Ms. Mothershead was told that she must leave the hospital and that she could not administer the contents of the cooler to her daughter?

2. A criminal defendant is constitutionally guaranteed a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Because the evidence rules must be interpreted consistently with these protections, a defendant must be allowed to present evidence of another suspect's culpability where the defendant can show motive and opportunity. Did the trial court violate Ms. Mothershead's constitutional right to present a defense by preventing her from presenting evidence related to other suspect culpability because although she could show motive and opportunity she had not shown another suspect took a step towards commission of the offense?

3. The moving party is entitled to a jury instruction on an inferior degree offense when, looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the moving party, affirmative evidence demonstrates a reasonable inference that only the inferior degree offense occurred. Did the trial court err in ruling assault of a child in the third degree is not legally an inferior degree offense of assault of a child in the first degree, and should the requested third degree assault of a child instruction have been given where affirmative evidence allowed the jury to find only that offense occurred?

4. Did the trial court err in prohibiting Ms. Mothershead from presenting evidence as to her peaceful conduct where character for peacefulness is pertinent to an assault charge and pertinent character evidence of the accused is admissible under ER 404(a) and ER 405?

5. Where one party opens the door to a relevant topic through the admission of evidence on direct examination, another party is entitled to explain, clarify or rebut the evidence, even with evidence that would otherwise be inadmissible. Did the trial court err in excluding Ms. Mothershead's explanatory, clarifying and rebuttal evidence on many occasions?

6. Did the trial court's erroneous rulings excluding character evidence and evidence explaining, clarifying or rebutting topics admitted on direct examination violate Ms. Mothershead's constitutional right to present a defense?

7. A prosecutor commits misconduct by trivializing the burden of proof, by misstating the State's burden of proof, by shifting the burden to the defendant, and by nullifying the presumption of innocence. Here, the prosecutor argued to the jury that Ms. Mothershead did not present evidence that she did not commit the crime, that Ms. Mothershead did not present evidence that she lacked the requisite intent, and that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard is like the everyday decision of disciplining

one's child. Ms. Mothershead's objection to the State's burden shifting was overruled. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct that requires reversal?

8. It is the jury's role to decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof; its duty is not to search for the truth. Over Ms. Mothershead's objection, the court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Did the court misstate and dilute the burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it believed the charge was true?

9. Multiple errors may combine to deprive an accused person of a fundamentally fair trial, in violation of the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions. In light of the cumulative effect of the errors assigned above, was Ms. Mothershead denied a fundamentally fair trial?

10. Should the exceptional sentence be reversed where the underlying aggravating factors were not supported by sufficient evidence, the deliberate cruelty and particular vulnerability aggravators are unconstitutionally vague, and application of those aggravators violate double jeopardy because the conduct is subsumed in the underlying offense?

11. Is imposition of a 40-year sentence clearly excessive where the aggravating circumstances are inherent to the underlying offense, the sentence is four times the top of Ms. Mothershead's standard range sentence, the sentence exceeds even the standard range with an offender score of nine or more, and the sentence greatly exceeds the standard range sentence that could be imposed for the more serious crime of homicide by abuse?

12. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) authorizes a sentencing court to impose crime-related prohibitions. Furthermore, if a sentencing condition burdens a fundamental right, it must be narrowly tailored to meet a compelling State interest. Where Ms. Mothershead was convicted of assaulting her biological child over whom she had primary custody, did the court exceed its authority by prohibiting Ms. Mothershead from having any contact with any minor under any condition?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### 1. **Factual background.**

From the time her daughter was born, Jennifer Mothershead took K.M. to regular medical checkups with a family medicine doctor in Enumclaw.<sup>3</sup> K.M. was a healthy child.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> 9/26/13 RP 108, 111-12, 119; 10/1/13 RP 39, 42-43.

<sup>4</sup> 9/26/13 RP 111-12; 10/1/13 RP 42-43; *see* CP \_\_ (Letters in Support of Defendant, pp.2, 3, 6, 10-11 (Nov. 15, 2013) (noting Ms. Mothershead's love for children

On March 23, 2011, K.M. sustained an eye irritation playing in a barn while being watched by Matthew Bowie and Courtney Valvoda.<sup>5</sup> Ms. Mothershead rode horses and coached an equestrian drill team.<sup>6</sup> It was not uncommon for K.M. to go to the barn with her mother.<sup>7</sup> At the time, Ms. Mothershead was separated from K.M.'s father, Cody Mothershead.<sup>8</sup> Ms. Mothershead had moved out of their home and stayed with her father or the couple's friends, Matthew Bowie and Courtney Valvoda (whose last name has now changed to Bowie).<sup>9</sup> Ms. Mothershead was K.M.'s primary caretaker.<sup>10</sup> K.M. was about 13 months old.<sup>11</sup>

Ms. Mothershead took K.M. to her family medicine physician that day to have her eye irritation checked.<sup>12</sup> Over the next seven to eight weeks, Ms. Mothershead took K.M. back to her family medicine doctor and to numerous specialists for initial appointments and follow up,

---

as well as horses)). A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed for the documents identified in this brief by "CP \_\_\_" and the document name.

<sup>5</sup> 9/23/13 RP 167-68; 9/24/13 RP 50-51; 9/24/13 RP 105-06, 119-20; 9/30/13 RP 13, 53; 10/1/13 RP 57-60.

<sup>6</sup> 9/24/13 RP 102-03; 9/30/13 RP 55-56; 10/1/13 RP 44-52.

<sup>7</sup> 9/12/13 RP 120; 10/1/13 RP 136-37; *see* 9/24/13 RP 145-48.

<sup>8</sup> 9/30/13 RP 6-8; 10/1/13 RP 46-47. To avoid confusion, because Jennifer Mothershead and her ex-husband share a last name, Mr. Mothershead will be referred to as Cody or Cody Mothershead. No disrespect is intended.

<sup>9</sup> 9/23/13 RP 118-20, 122-23, 142-43; 9/24/13 RP 99-101; 10/1/13 RP 52-54.

<sup>10</sup> *E.g.*, 9/23/13 RP 122-23; 9/30/13 RP 10-11, 16-18.

<sup>11</sup> 9/24/13 RP 103; 9/26/13 RP 118.

<sup>12</sup> 9/26/13 RP 109-13; 10/1/13 RP 60-62.



including the Chief of Optometry at Seattle Children's Hospital.<sup>13</sup> Despite numerous appointments, tests and procedures, no one was able to pinpoint a cause for K.M.'s eye troubles.<sup>14</sup> Over the course of time, Ms. Mothershead received prescriptions for several medications to treat K.M.'s irritation, including Tobramycin eye drops.<sup>15</sup> Tobramycin, which is compounded specially by the Seattle Children's pharmacy, was prescribed twice, the first bottle was dated April 26, 2011, and the second was dated May 2, 2011.<sup>16</sup> It was not easy to administer eye drops to K.M.; a combination of Ms. Mothershead, Mr. Bowie and Courtney Valvoda would use one person to hold K.M. in place and another to place the drops into her eyes.<sup>17</sup> Over time, K.M.'s eye condition worsened, and spread to both eyes.<sup>18</sup>

Mr. Bowie was watching K.M. and his own son one evening in May when he noticed a "squishy" spot on K.M.'s head.<sup>19</sup> He showed his girlfriend, Ms. Valvoda, who said they needed to tell Ms. Mothershead

---

<sup>13</sup> 9/12/13 RP 4, 15-50, 90-91, 103-07; 9/18/13 RP 30, 38-44; 9/23/13 RP 86, 91-92, 97-98, 102; 9/24/13 RP 27, 31, 60, 141-42; 9/26/13 RP 113-17, 120-24, 126-27; 10/1/13 RP 61-72, 74-96.

<sup>14</sup> *Id.*

<sup>15</sup> 9/12/13 RP 21-50, 92-93, 97-101, 103-05, 109, 111; 9/18/13 RP 44-45; 9/24/13 RP 39-41; 10/1/13 RP 168-69.

<sup>16</sup> 9/12/13 RP 95; 9/17/13 RP 75-76; 9/24/13 RP 41; 9/26/13 RP 12, 16-17, 22-23, 47.

<sup>17</sup> 9/18/13 RP 71-72, 141; 9/23/13 RP 22-24, 133-34, 173-77; 9/23/13 RP 138 (Bowie and Cody administered drops together once when Bowie decided to show Cody how); 9/24/13 RP 67-69, 117; 10/1/13 RP 96-98, 160-61.

<sup>18</sup> *E.g.*, 9/23/13 RP 97, 102-03, 132-33; 9/24/13 RP 109-10.

<sup>19</sup> 9/23/13 RP 33, 139, 158-60, 163.

about the spot.<sup>20</sup> Ms. Mothershead agreed that K.M. needed to be seen by a doctor.<sup>21</sup> She could think of a couple falls K.M. had recently had, but none seemed to explain the spot, which was later diagnosed as a subdural hematoma.<sup>22</sup> K.M.'s most recent caretakers, Mr. Bowie and Ms. Valvoda, claimed to not have an explanation for the spot.<sup>23</sup>

Ms. Mothershead contacted K.M.'s doctors the next morning, May 12, 2011.<sup>24</sup> She was referred from Enumclaw Medical Center to St. Elizabeth's Hospital who in turn had K.M. airlifted to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington ("Harborview") based on the results of a head scan showing a slight bleed on the brain.<sup>25</sup> Ms. Mothershead picked up her cooler with K.M.'s medications inside and her friend Ms. Valvoda, and drove immediately to Harborview.<sup>26</sup> She placed the cooler at her daughter's bedside.<sup>27</sup>

Law enforcement arrived and spoke with Ms. Mothershead, Ms. Valvoda and Cody Mothershead, who had arrived separately, for about 40 minutes.<sup>28</sup> After law enforcement also spoke with Child Protective Services and medical providers, the police informed Ms. Mothershead that

---

<sup>20</sup> 9/23/13 RP 140; 9/24/13 RP 125, 152-55.

<sup>21</sup> 9/24/13 RP 126; 10/1/13 RP 101-16.

<sup>22</sup> 9/18/13 RP 69-71; 9/19/13 RP 17, 113.

<sup>23</sup> 9/23/13 RP 140.

<sup>24</sup> 10/1/13 RP 115-19.

<sup>25</sup> 10/1/13 RP 115-19.

<sup>26</sup> 9/24/13 RP 126-27, 161-62; 10/1/13 RP 119-20, 123.

<sup>27</sup> 8/21/13 RP 11-13, 37, 57-58; 9/23/13 RP 29; 9/24/13 RP 166.

<sup>28</sup> 9/18/13 RP 63-68, 79-80; 9/23/13 RP 17-18, 24, 59-60; 9/30/13 RP 22-23.

K.M. would be taken into protective custody and Ms. Mothershead and the others had to leave the hospital.<sup>29</sup> Ms. Mothershead asked if she could deliver the medications in her cooler to her daughter but was informed the hospital would provide K.M.'s medical care.<sup>30</sup> Complying with law enforcement orders, Ms. Mothershead, Cody and Ms. Valvoda left the hospital.<sup>31</sup>

## **2. Procedural background.**

Concerned with K.M.'s eye condition, a Harborview resident and attending physicians in charge of K.M.'s care decided to test the pH levels of the medications inside Ms. Mothershead's cooler.<sup>32</sup> Without obtaining a warrant and without obtaining consent from Ms. Mothershead, Dr. Justin Heistand unzipped the closed cooler, which was still in K.M.'s room, removed the medication and tested them.<sup>33</sup> While the pH levels were normal, he noticed the Tobramycin had a noxious odor.<sup>34</sup> Following Harborview's evidence collection policies, Dr. Heistand packaged up the

---

<sup>29</sup> 8/21/13 RP 41-42, 59; 9/18/13 RP 60-63, 73-74, 81-83; 9/23/13 RP 17-18, 26-27.

<sup>30</sup> 8/20/13 RP 33-36; 8/21/13 RP 37; 9/18/13 RP 84-85, 148; 9/23/13 RP 28-29, 65-66.

<sup>31</sup> 8/21/13 RP 41-43; 9/23/13 RP 29; 10/1/13 RP 125.

<sup>32</sup> 8/21/13 RP 9-10, 15-16, 41; *see* 8/21/13 RP 45-46 (doctor informed Sergeant Berg that she was going to have medication tested); 9/18/13 RP 88-89 (same).

<sup>33</sup> 8/21/13 RP 16-19, 75-77.

<sup>34</sup> 8/21/13 RP 19-20, 27.

medication and it was turned over to the Pierce County Sheriff's Department.<sup>35</sup>

Pierce County opened the medications themselves and then had them tested by the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab and the Federal Drug Administration Lab.<sup>36</sup> Neither lab determined the actual makeup of the medications.<sup>37</sup> The FDA technicians found the Tobramycin prescribed on May 2, 2011 reacted similarly to the standard composite Tobramycin with bleach added.<sup>38</sup> Over Ms. Mothershead's objection, this evidence was admitted at trial despite the warrantless search of her cooler.<sup>39</sup>

The State charged Ms. Mothershead<sup>40</sup> with assault of a child in the first degree "on or about the period between the 23<sup>rd</sup> of March, 2011 and the 12<sup>th</sup> day of May, 2011" alleging an assault with reckless infliction of great bodily harm, or "causing substantial bodily harm and the person has previously engaged in a pattern or practice of assaulting the child which has resulted in bodily harm that is greater than transient physical pain or

---

<sup>35</sup> 8/21/13 RP 22-23, 25, 38-39. Citations to the record here and in the argument challenging the trial court's suppression ruling below are to those portions of the record that were before the trial court during the Criminal Rule 3.6 hearing.

<sup>36</sup> 8/21/13 RP 47-48, 51-55, 62, 65, 68-69, 78-79; 9/17/13 RP 7, 13-14, 38-40; 9/18/13 RP 10-12, 95-99, 104-07, 130-32; 9/23/13 RP 34-38; *see* 9/18/13 RP 28 (FDA testimony on why it is bad practice to open medication bottle of evidentiary value).

<sup>37</sup> 9/17/13 RP 61-62, 86-87, 116, 136; 9/18/13 RP 109-10; 9/19/13 RP 91, 94-95.

<sup>38</sup> 9/17/13 RP 61-62, 75-76, 86-87, 9, 147-48; *see* 9/12/13 RP 63-65, 68-69; 9/24/13 RP 47-48.

<sup>39</sup> CP 42-57, 88-93, 234-39.

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