NO. 45588-9

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JENNIFER LYNN MOTHERSHEAD, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Linda CJ Lee

No. 12-1-01509-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PROVE A PUBLIC TRIAL RIGHT VIOLATION RESULTED FROM THE OPEN COURT EXCUSAL OF POTENTIAL JURORS.

"The public trial right is not absolute" *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d70, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (citing *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 45, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984); *State v. Leyerle*, 158 Wn. App. 474, 478, 242 P.3d 921 (2010) (citing *State v. Easterling*, 157 Wn.2d 167, 182, 137 P.3d 825 (2006)). Alleged violations are reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* Whereas, courtroom management decisions which do not effect a courtroom closure are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 95, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *In re Personal Restraint of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-7, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997); *see also* RCW 2.28.010.

The rules governing the constitutionality of an alleged courtroom closure are not triggered unless "the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so ... no one may enter [or] leave." *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71; *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 92, 257 P.3d 624 (2011) (citing *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 256-57, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (no spectators allowed)). Defendants bear the burden of producing a record sufficient to prove a closure. *State v. Koss*, 181 Wn.2d

493, 334 P.3d 1042, 1048 (2014); *State v. Slerf*, ___ Wn.2d ___, 334 P.3d 1088, 1093 (2014). Remand for new trial is the remedy for a violation. *Leyerle*, 158 Wn. App. at 478.

- a. Defendant failed to prove open-court excusal of several jurors for cause was error.

Reviewing courts first consider whether the proceeding at issue implicates the public trial right. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71. "Existing case law does not hold ... a defendant's public trial right applies to every component of the broad jury selection process.... Rather, [it] addresses application of the public trial right related only to a specific component of jury selection—i.e., the *voir dire* of prospective jurors who form the venire...." *State v. Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. 328, 338, 298 P.3d 148 (2013).

Several members of the *venire* were verbally excused for cause in open court during individual questioning. RP (9/9) at 33, 35, 37, 42, 48, 57, 72, 77, 84, 93, 107, 118; RP (9/10) 10, 15, 17, 87, 88. Excusals for cause were likewise entered after general *voir dire*; on appeal, defendant challenges the excusal of *venire* members No. 2, 5, 6, 17, and 67 as a public trial right violation for allegedly being challenged in a sidebar conference. App. 12. Yet defendant has not produced a record of what transpired sidebar. Public questioning of the jurors revealed legitimate hardships. RP (9/11) 17-18, 37-38, 67-69 (Juror No.2, work); RP (9/11) 2, 33, 67-69 (Juror No. 5, work/travel); RP (9/11) 2-3, 27-28, 33-35 (Juror No.6, work); RP (9/11) 2, 32-33 (Juror No.17, school); RP(9/10) 68-74

(Juror No. 67, work). After the sidebar jurors 2, 5, 6, 17, and 67 were asked to remain in the still-open courtroom as the *venire* was released. RP (9/11) 72. Jurors 2, 5, 6, 17, and 67 were then excused in open court. RP (9/11) 74-75 Thereafter members No. 1, 16, 29, and 45 were also excused for cause in open court. RP (9/11) 78, 81, 83. All the excusals were reduced to a public record. CP 327-330.

Division III determined the exercise of for cause challenges does not implicate the public trial right. *State v. Love*, 176 Wn. App. 911, 919, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). This Division has yet to decide the issue; however, it need not in this case as defendant's failure to provide a sufficient record of what occurred at sidebar precludes review. *See Koss*, 334 P.3d at 1048. Appellate courts will not infer a trial court violated the constitution from an inadequate record. *See Slett*, 334 P.3d at 1093. What remains clear is that jurors 2, 5, 6, 17, and 67 were questioned in open court before being publically excused for cause; whereupon a record of the rulings was reduced to the publicly available case file. CP 327-30, 359. Defendant's suggestion challenges must have been made at the sidebar is unfounded, for a challenge is not the only way a juror can be dismissed for cause. RCW 2.36.100, .110. The record strongly suggests the court *sua sponte* excused jurors 2, 5, 6, 17, and 67 for the hardships revealed during *voir dire*. They were accordingly akin to administrative dismissals already held not to implicate the public trial right. *See Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. 342-47.

Love's application of the experience and logic test to sidebar discussions preceding open court excusals should be adopted if this Court reaches the merits of defendant's claim. *E.g.*, 176 Wn. App. at 920-21; *Popoff v. Mott*, 14 Wn.2d 1, 9, 126 P.2d 597 (1942); *see also State v. Marks*, 339 P.3d 196, 198-99 (2014). Much of defendant's criticism of *Love* is grounded in the *expressed* concern sidebar conferences conceal race-based challenges. SupApp.8 (citing *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986); *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992)). But as in *State v. Filitaula*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 339 P.3d 221, 223-224 (2014): the challenged process ensured public access to such information through a transcribed *voir dire* with open court excusals reduced to an easily obtained written record.

- b. The public trial right was not violated through the public exchange of written peremptory challenges.

Peremptory challenges may be exercised in writing. *Filitaula*, 339 P.3d at 223-224 (2014) *State v. Dunn*, 180 Wn. App. 570, 574, 321 P.3d 1283 (2014); *Marks*, 339 P.3d at 198-200; *Love*, 176 Wn. App. 911; *United States v. Turner*, 558 F.2d 535, 538 (1977); CrR 6.4(e).

Excusals based on the previously uncontested peremptory challenges were also executed in open court pursuant to the publically announced peremptory challenge process; after which, they were reduced to a public record. RP (9/11) 90-92; CP 326-330, 359. RP (9/11) 91-92;

CP 327-30, 359. Defendant's public trial right was neither implicated nor violated.

c. Defendant similarly failed to establish a violation of her right to be present.

A criminal defendant's right to be present at all "critical stages" of trial is not absolute. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-81, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). A defendant does not have the right to useless presence. *Id. Voir dire* is a critical stage to which the right to be present attaches, yet the announcement of challenges may not be. *See Id.* at 883-84. Appellate courts review challenges to the right to be present *de novo*. *Id.* at 880.

Defendant failed to prove her right to be present was violated. She has not demonstrated any deprivation in her opportunity to be involved in counsel's use of peremptory challenges or challenges for cause as the mere existence of a sidebar does not evince the absence of power to advise or supersede her counsel. *See Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 883.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE BLEACH INFUSED EYE MEDICINE SHE PUT IN K.M.'S EYES AS IT WAS K.M.'S PROPERTY WHEN MEDICAL RESPONDERS RETRIEVED IT FROM K.M.'S ROOM TO TREAT HER URGENT CONDITION.

A defendant must demonstrate a reasonable expectation of privacy in an item searched by a state actor to challenge its admissibility. *State v. Poling*, 128 Wn. App. 659, 667, 116 P.3d 1054 (2005); *City of Pasco v.*

Shaw, 161 Wn.2d 450, 460, 116 P.3d 1157 (2007) (citing *e.g.*, *State v. Swenson*, 104 Wn. App. 744, 754, 9 P.3d 933 (2000); *State v. Walter*, 66 Wn. App. 862, 866, 833 P.2d 440 (1992)). Evidence from such an intrusion is admissible if procured through a warrant requirement exception. *State v. Hamilton*, 179 Wn. App. 870, 884, 320 P.3d 142 (2014). Since defendant "does not assign error to the factual findings" they are verities. App. 16; *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). The trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo* while according great significance to conclusions entered following a suppression hearing. *State v. Collins*, 121 Wn.2d 168, 174, 847 P.2d 919 (1993); *State v. Mance*, 82 Wn.App. 539, 541, 918 P.2d 527 (1996).

- a. Defendant did not preserve a claim K.M.'s treatment providers were state actors by virtue of Harborview employment.

A party cannot change theories of admissibility on appeal. *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718–719, 718 P.2d 407, *overruled on other grounds by*, *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). To preserve a claimed constitutional intrusion based on a medical responder's alleged status as a "state actor" an appellant must have objected on that specific ground in the trial court. *See* ER 103(a)(1); *State v. Harris*, 154 Wn. App. 87, 94, 224 P.3d 830 (2010); *DeHaven v. Gant*, 42 Wn. App. 666, 669, 713 P.2d 149 (1986) (citing *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d

1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986); *State v. Boast*, 87 Wn.2d 447, 451, 533 P.2d 1322 (1976). Appellate courts will not generalize specific objections to enable defendants to pursue new theories on appeal. *DeHaven*, 42 Wn. App. at 670. Where the trial court has not been asked to rule on an issue, there is no ruling, thus no manifest error appearing in the record affecting a constitutional right as is needed to review an untimely challenge to the admissibility of evidence. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Roberts*, 158 Wn. App. 174, 181-82, 240 P.3d 1198 (2010), *review granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1017, 262 P.3d 64 (2011) (citing (RAP 2.5(a), (a)(3); *State v. O' Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2010); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). The manifest constitutional error exception to the general rule is a narrow one. *Id.* It is not meant to allow defendants to obtain a new trial whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court.

At trial defendant's motion to suppress K.M.'s bleach infused eye medicine was exclusively based on the theory the medical responders who tested K.M.'s medicine and released it to police *became* state actors when they allegedly acted at law enforcement's behest. CP 47-48. She inferred the requisite level of coordination from Dr. Sugar's status as a mandatory reporter who specialized in child abuse. CP 91-92; RP (8/21) 92-94. It was established police had nothing to do with the hospital's examination of

K.M.'s medications or decision to release them to police. RP (8/21) 38-40, 51, 58-59. Accordingly the court ruled Harborview staff's handling of K.M.'s medication was not undertaken at law enforcement's behest, recognizing "there is no evidence to support the argument Dr. Heistad, Dr. Sugar, or any Harborview staff [wa]s a government agent [or] acting as a government agent when they tested the medication." RP (9/9) 16-18; CP 198-202 (relying on *State v. Smith*, 110 Wn.2d 658, 756 P.2d 722 (1988); *State v. Link*, 136 Wn. App. 685, 150 P.3d 610 (2007); *Swenson*, 104 Wn. App. at 744).

Defendant never claimed (as she does on appeal) Heistad and Sugar were state actors based on their involvement in K.M.'s emergency Harborview treatment. *Id.* His new theory of state action is therefore an unpreserved issue, requiring a showing of manifest constitutional error. Such a showing is impossible as the requisite record was never developed. Defendant indirectly acknowledges as much by attempting to augment the record with online information about Harborview. App.p.17. Putting aside the impropriety of looking beyond the record to evidence defendant never presented to the court he accuses of error, proof of Harborview's public ownership does not resolve the question of whether Heistad and Sugar were state actors during K.M.'s Harborview care.

State action depends on the circumstances of a given case. *Shaw*, 161 Wn.2d at 460 (citing *State v. Clark*, 48 Wn. App. 850, 856, 743 P.2d 822 (1987); *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 401, 745 P.2d 496 (1987)). Although members of a state hospital's "staff" are government actors³, the same is not always true of professionals who provide medical service to public hospital patients as independent contractors or consultants. The vast majority of federal courts agree treatment by a non-contract private physician upon referral or on an emergency basis does not satisfy the requirements for state action.⁴

Defendant's failure to raise his new theory of state agency at trial left the record silent on the particulars of the professional relationship Dr. Heistad and Dr. Sugar had with Harborview. Dr. Heistad identified himself as a "pediatrician with Group Health" who completed post-doctorate training through Seattle Children's Hospital, during which he went to different hospitals like Harborview and Bellingham at Peach

³ *Ferguson v. City of Charleston*, 532 U.S. 67, 76, 121 S. Ct. 1281, 149 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2001).

⁴ See *Welch v. Prison Health Services*, Slip Copy No.2:10cv749-MHT (2013 WL 6195791 (M.D.Ala.) (citing *Sykes v. McPhillips*, 412 F.Supp.2d 197, 202–2014 (N.D.N.Y.2006); *Katorie v. Dunham*, 108 Fed.Appx. 694, 698–699 (3rd Cir.2004); *Styles v. McGinnis*, 28 Fed.Appx. 362, 364 (2001); *Davis v. Dorsey*, 167 F.3d 411, 412–413 (8th Cir.1999); *Pino v. Higgs*, 75 F.3d 1461, 1466–1467 (10th Cir.1996); *Ellison v. Garbarino*, 48 F.3d 192, 196–197 (e Cir.1995) (private physician "in no way contractually bound to the state" deemed not a state actor); see also *Shaw*, 161 Wn.2d at 460 (citing *State v. Clark*, 48 Wn. App. 850, 856, 743 P.2d 822 (1987); *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 401, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Ludvik*, 40 Wn.App. 257, 262–63, 698 P.2d 1064 (1985); *Walter*, 66 Wn. App. at 866).

Health. RP (8/21) 9-10, 20-23. Heistad did not know whether Sugar was paid by Harborview or Seattle Children's for her work as a child abuse "consultant." RP (8/21) 23-28. Detective Berg knew Sugar to be "a doctor at Children's Hospital." RP (8/21) 41. Seattle Children's Hospital is a private non-profit 501(c)(3) organization.⁵ Detective Anderson understood Sugar to be a child abuse "consultant" with Harborview. RP (8/21) 73. This Court cannot reasonably be expected to resolve an unpreserved issue of state agency based on an attenuated inference drawn from Harborview's public ownership when the record evinces a nuanced professional relationship capable qualifying Heistad and Sugar as something other than state actors due to their respective status as trainee and consultant from a different hospital.⁶

b. Defendant is without standing to challenge the admissibility of K.M.'s eye medication.

A defendant seeking to suppress evidence on privacy grounds has the burden to establish the search violated her own privacy rights. *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 869 Fn.2, 319 P.3d 9 (2014); *State v. Jones*, 68

⁵ The State only includes information outside the record to respond to defendant's argument despite the State's position it would be improper for a finding of manifest error to be based on evidence defendant never presented to the trial court.

⁶ Although defendant does not clearly challenge the court's actual ruling on appeal, it was nevertheless well supported by the record, for both the challenged hospital personnel and police disavowed any law enforcement involvement in K.M.'s treatment providers' decision to test K.M.'s medication and surrender it to police once potential contamination was perceived. RP (8/21) 16, 21-24, 37-40, 58-61.

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